IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0305

JAMES JOSEPH MAIN, JR.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Montana Twelfth Judicial District Court,
Hill County, the Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
chadwright@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT
AND APPELLANT

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
DANIEL M. GUZYNSKI
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401

LACEY LINCOLN
Hill County Attorney

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Should the district court have allowed for further postconviction litigation and an evidentiary hearing before adopting the findings made by another court in the co-defendant's postconviction case to deny James Main's petition for postconviction relief?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The procedural record leading up to the denial of James Main's current postconviction proceedings is lengthy. Before filing the current postconviction petition, Main has been through a jury trial, direct appeal, an initial postconviction petition and appeal of the denial of his first post-conviction petition. The district court also took judicial notice of Kim Norquay's post-conviction proceeding, labeling it a "companion case." (Order Denying Petitioner's Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief, D.C. Doc. No. 66, attached as Appendix A.) The following is a brief summary of the procedural history of both cases:

November 25, 2006	Lloyd Kvelstad dies in the early morning hours at a party in Melissa Snow's flop house in Havre, Montana
December 8 and 22, 2006.	James Main and Kim Norquay, Jr. were charged with Deliberate Homicide or alternatively, Deliberate Homicide by Felony Murder (Aggravated Assault).

November 12, 2008	Norquay goes to trial and is convicted of deliberate homicide and tampering with evidence.
February 2-9, 2009	Main goes to trial. Norquay testifies under a grant of immunity. State's DV Ex. 1: 2/2-2/9, 2009, Main Trial Transcript (Main Tr.) at 1174-1176.
May 18, 2009	The honorable Wayne E. Phillips sentences Main to sixty (60) years in the Montana State Prison. Written judgment issued on June 23, 2009.
March 1, 2011	Norquay's conviction is upheld on appeal. <i>State v. Norquay</i> , 2011 MT 34, 359 Mont. 257, 248 P.3d 817.
July 12, 2011	Main's conviction is upheld on appeal. <i>State v. Main</i> , 2011 MT 123, 360 Mont. 470, 255 P.3d 1240.
June 17, 2013	Norquay files post-conviction relief (PCR) petition.
April 2012	Main files document that the district court converts to a PCR petition.
November 19, 2013	The denial of Main's PCR petition is upheld on appeal. <i>Main v. State</i> , 2013 MT 350N, 373 Mont. 441, 318 P.3d 173.
April 24, 2018	Norquay files Revised Amended Petition for Post-Conviction Relief based on new evidence. <i>Norquay v. State</i> , DV 12-93. Norquay's attorneys provide the new information in his PCR petition to Main.

April 26, 2019	Main files PCR petition based on new evidence regarding Kvelstad's death and items not turned over to the defense. <i>Main v. State (II)</i> DV 19-45. (D.C. Doc. 1.)
August 19, 2019	Judge Larson appoints OPD counsel to represent Main in his PCR case. (D.C. Docs. 10 and 11.)
April 17, 2020	Main requests subpoena for DNA raw data generated before the original trial. The State objects and the district court never rules on the request. (D.C. Doc. 21.)
January/February 2020	The Honorable Yvonne Laird holds a four-day evidentiary hearing to consider Norquay's post-conviction claims.
October 1, 2020	Main files his Amended Original Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (D.C. Doc. 45.)
October 1, 2021	Judge Laird denies Norquay's request for post-conviction relief in DV 12-93. The denial is submitted by the State in Main's PCR case. (D.C. Doc. 64 at Ex. A.)
April 13, 2022	Judge Larson denies Main's Amended Original Petition for Post-Conviction Relief. (D.C. Doc. 66, Appellate Appendix A.)
August 29, 2023	The denial of Norquay's amended post-conviction petition is upheld. <i>Norquay v. State</i> , 2023 MT 165N, __ Mont. __, 534 P.3d 132.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

It was around 8 degrees outside and almost as cold inside Melissa Snow's house when people would come rolling through in the evening of November 24 and into the early morning hours of November 25, 2006. (Main Tr. at 418.) Her house did not have heat. Most of the windows were boarded up, but a few were just broken and exposed to the elements. (Main Tr. at 704 *referencing* State's Ex. 35.) From the late afternoon of November 24 to the early morning hours of November 25, almost a dozen people would show up and drink at the house.

When Nathan Oats arrived around 1:00 a.m., he did not know what was going on in the house. Lloyd Kvelstad was laying face down on the low couch with his pants pushed down by his ankles. Oats shook Kvelstad and Kvelstad rolled directly off the couch onto the dirty carpet floor. Blood stains match his position on the couch and the short fall to the floor. (State's Ex. 42.) Oats thought Kvelstad was dead, but Kim Norquay, who was sitting nearby on another couch calmly drinking a beer, told Oats that Kvelstad was fine and to leave him alone. (Main Tr. at 263-264.) Oats did not believe Norquay and directed his wife to call the cops. Norquay immediately ran from the house and Oats

tackled another man who came from the back rooms, James Main, to prevent him from leaving. (Main Tr. at 265-266.) For seventeen years, Main's fate would be tied to Norquay's actions that night.

Norquay and Main were charged with felony murder for Kvelstad's death. The State said aggravated assault was the underlying offense for the felony murder charge. Norquay went to trial first and, after he was convicted, he testified in Main's trial under a grant of immunity. One of Main's witnesses, Nathan Morsette, told the jury that Norquay was bragging about the murder after admitting that he strangled Kvelstad with a string and was plotting to get Main convicted for the murder. (Main Tr. at 1298 and 1303.) Despite evidence that Norquay was the only one of the two involved in tying the string around Kvelstad's neck, Main was still convicted for felony murder. (Main Tr. at 1604.)

Norquay was also first to challenge his conviction on appeal. He would claim playing the videotaped deposition of a crime lab expert and the *Allen*¹ instruction given to the jury during deliberations hampered

¹ *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492, 17 S. Ct. 154, 41 L. Ed. 528 (1896).

his ability to show he was not responsible for Kvelstad's death.

Norquay, ¶ 28 and ¶ 33. This Court affirmed Norquay's conviction.

When Main's appeal was considered two months later, this Court rejected Main's argument emphasizing whatever scuffle Main had with Kvelstad earlier in the evening did not lead to Kvelstad's death later the next morning. This Court referenced Norquay's actions over thirty times and concluded there was sufficient evidence to tie Main to Kvelstad's death. *Main*, ¶ 44.

Attorneys started reviewing Norquay's conviction. Discrepancies in photo logs and careful review of the photos showed Kvelstad's body was not in same location as when it rolled off the low couch after he had supposedly died from his blunt force trauma and strangulation injuries. Norquay acquired the services of a renowned Canadian hypothermia expert who concluded Kvelstad was not dead when the EMTs arrived and, because he was wet, he may have died from exposure rather than the assault injuries. This new information was shared with Main. Main then filed his second PCR petition claiming: "[t]his new evidence establishes that Kvelstad's death was likely the result of exposure rather than assault and casts significant doubt on the State's time of

death. Further, Petitioner has discovered evidence that crime scene photos were altered.” (D.C. Doc. No.1 at 3.)

Main pointed the district court to Crime Scene Photos #40 - #43, #46, #47 and are the first photos provided in discovery showing Kvelstad at the scene. They were taken at 3:53-3:57 a.m., or two-and-a-half hours after Oats shook Kvelstad off the couch at 1:22 a.m.. These photos contradict where all the witnesses and blood stains placed Kvelstad in diagrams of the scene, directly below and adjacent to the couch. These photos show Kvelstad moved forward approximately two feet after the EMTs left the scene and before these photos were taken.² Exhibit # 58 shows the string from Kvelstad’s hoodie in his mouth.

In January 2020, Norquay was afforded a four-day hearing before Judge Laird where he presented evidence related to the expert’s hypothermia conclusions and the missing photos. (D.C. Doc. 66 at 11.) On October 1, 2021, Judge Laird denied Norquay’s PCR claims. (D.C. Doc. 64.) Main’s PCR claims and additional claims related to DNA

² Main invited the district court to compare Ex 17.5, body location drawings, with Ex. 19, crime scene photos showing body movement—crime scene photos #40-43, 1148, #58. 18 See Ex. 20, crime scene video. 19 Ex. 27, Breunig Report at 4, 5, 12.

findings were still pending. However, Judge Larson would not grant Main's request for a hearing and summarily denied Main's PCR claims on April 13, 2022. (D.C. Doc. 66.) In deciding the case without a hearing, Judge Larson said the expert findings challenging Kvelstad's cause of death was not "newly discovered evidence" and adopted Judge Lairds factual findings as "persuasive authority." (D.C. Doc. 66 at 12-14.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Rather than being swept up into the same treatment as Kim Norquay, James Main was entitled to his own PCR evidentiary hearing where he could present the evidence from his investigation about new evidence related to Lloyd Kvelstad's death. The district court delayed ruling on Main's request to obtain the raw data created from the DNA testing done before the original trial. New testing methods could have revealed the DNA of previously unidentified DNA contributors found on the string tied around Kvelstad's neck. Main's DNA request relates to how new evidence about the cause of death had a different impact on his own PCR claims. Unlike Norquay, Main wanted to show how his

early minor scuffle with Kvelstad did not cause his death much later the next day.

After making the initial statutory determination that his claims were not frivolous and could warrant relief, the district court then prevented Main from fully investigating and presenting his PCR case. The district court simply delayed and defaulted to another district court's denial in Norquay's PCR case. One district court judge cannot rely on the factual findings of another district court judge as "persuasive authority." Even if similar to Norquay's claims, Main was entitled to an independent review.

Main was presenting evidence about Kvelstad's death that was not available at his original trial. This new evidence was tied to the State's failure to turn over crime scene investigation photographic evidence. Thus, Main presented a procedural claim of innocence that should have given him the opportunity to for judicial review. The district court's interpretation of Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102 conflicts with that statute's underlying constitutional due process gateway criteria to protect criminal defendants coming forward with new evidence of innocence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a postconviction relief petition to determine whether the district court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and whether its conclusions of law are correct.

State v. Turner, 2000 MT 270, ¶ 47, 302 Mont. 69, 12 P.3d 934.

Discretionary rulings in postconviction relief proceedings, including rulings relating to whether to hold an evidentiary hearing, are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Soraich v. State*, 2002 MT 187, ¶ 13, 311 Mont. 90, 53 P.3d 878 and *Ford v. State*, 2005 MT 151, ¶ 6, 327 Mont. 378, 114 P.3d 244.

Collateral proceedings in state court have taken on a more important role than ever before. The United States Supreme Court has limited consideration of factual evidence in federal habeas corpus proceedings review to the factual information first presented in the state court. *Shinn v. Ramirez*, 596 U.S. 366, 142 S. Ct. 1718, 212 L. Ed. 2d 713 (2022). In *Shinn*, the majority of the Court interpreted AEDPA³ to hold, above and beyond the normal procedural defaults, federal

³ The Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996, 28 U.S.C. § 2254.

habeas courts may not conduct an evidentiary hearing or otherwise consider evidence beyond the state court record. *Shinn*, 596 U.S. at 381. The three dissenting jurists noted that the majority’s new position “prioritizes maximal deference to state-court convictions over vindication of the constitutional protections at the core of our adversarial system.” *Shinn*, 596 U.S. at 406 (J. Sotomayor, *dissenting*). Applied here, the discretionary power of the district court must not be used to limit further review of what may be an extreme malfunction of the trial process by foregoing a hearing in favor of adopting the findings of another court.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The district court abused its discretion when it denied James Main’s post-conviction proceedings without a hearing.**
 - A. **The district court should have let James Main obtain and submit the DNA raw data for expert review.**

After the new information came to light about Kvelstad’s cause of death, James Main sought the readily available DNA raw data generated by the Montana State Crime Lab before his trial. DNA evidence was crucial at trial because it showed various items of Main’s clothing had Kvelstad’s blood on it. However, DNA obtained from the

most important piece of evidence – the string wrapped around Kvelstad’s neck – excluded Main from one of the three other possible contributors. With new available testing methods for mixed DNA samples, Main hoped to identify the people who had most likely handled and presumably tied the hoodie string around Kvelstad’s neck. D.C. Doc. 23 at 2-4.) The State opposed the release of the raw data. (D.C. Doc. 22.) Without a ruling on obtaining the DNA evidence for over a year, Main filed a notice alerting the district court to the outstanding request for the underlying DNA raw data. The district court never ruled on Main’s DNA request and instead summarily denied his entire petition without any mention of the DNA request. Main’s simple request for the available and existing DNA raw data was not being used as a broad discovery device. *Heath v. State*, 2009 MT 7, ¶¶ 26-27, 348 Mont. 361, 202 P.3d 118.

In *Heath*, trial defense counsel said he would only respond to IAC allegations at a hearing and then subsequently died before ever responding to Heath’s IAC claims. *Heath*, ¶¶ 7-8. The district court denied Heath’s PCR claims without holding an evidentiary hearing because it felt there would be no value in holding a hearing without his

now deceased attorney. *Heath* ¶ 20. This Court cautioned against the district court making purely speculative guesses about what would come out in the hearing. *Heath* ¶ 23. Instead, the district court should have given Heath the opportunity at a hearing to “fully explore” Heath’s IAC claims, even if his prior attorney would not be there to respond. *Heath*, ¶ 24. With the death of his counsel, Heath should have been provided reasonable alternative means to find the information, including a hearing, to prove his PCR claims. *Heath*, ¶ 27.

Like *Heath*, Main specifically targeted further information to prove that, despite his scuffle with Kvelstad the prior evening, someone else tied the string around Kvelstad’s neck and the resulting lack of care led to his death. Re-examination of the existing DNA evidence with more sophisticated statistical analysis could clarify who handled the string found around Kvelstad’s neck. Not only was Main’s sought after DNA information relevant, the raw data was easily amenable to new DNA analysis specifically designed to more thoroughly evaluate DNA mixtures like the mixture present on the string around Kvelstad’s neck. The district court should have provided Main the reasonable alternative DNA testing request. Summarily dismissing Main’s PCR

claims without letting him evaluate the DNA raw data or present that information at an evidentiary hearing was an abuse of discretion. *State v. Lawrence*, 2001 MT 299, ¶ 16, 307 Mont. 487, 38 P.3d 809 (remanding for PCR evidentiary hearing when a possibility of valid IAC claims existed.)

B. The evidentiary hearing in Kim Norquay’s case could not act as a substitute for holding an evidentiary hearing regarding James Main’s PCR claims.

The district court summarily dismissed Main’s petition without the benefit of discovery or an evidentiary hearing. “If a district court finds that the allegations in a petition are without merit or would not otherwise entitle a petitioner to relief, a district court may deny an application for postconviction relief without holding an evidentiary hearing.” *State v. Cobell*, 2004 MT 46, ¶ 12, 320 Mont. 122, 86 P.3d 20.

Here, the district court made the initial determination that Main’s new PCR petition had enough merit to warrant a response from the State of Montana. Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-201(1)(a), a district court must not only review the State’s response it must also review the existing record before it can dismiss a petition for postconviction relief. The district court went on to make the additional

finding that, after reviewing the State's response, Main's PCR petition had enough merit to appoint counsel and order additional briefing. *Off. of State Pub. Def. v. Montana Eighteenth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 2011 MT 97, ¶ 7, 360 Mont. 284, 255 P.3d 107(explaining the necessary review a district court needs to conduct before appointing PCR counsel.) Despite these early findings of merit which would warrant continued PCR litigation, the district court stopped short of holding an evidentiary hearing.

The better course of action is to provide postconviction petitioners with the opportunity for an evidentiary hearing when potential claims for relief exist. *See, State v. Schaff*, 2001 MT 130, ¶ 10, 305 Mont. 427, 28 P.3d 1073. The district court in *Schaff* summarily dismissed his PCR claim about misleading advice from his attorney to plead guilty because there existed a valid change of plea record on which the court could make the decision about whether Schaff's plea was voluntary. But Schaff's claim involved what took place before the change of plea and was not documented in the record. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing so Schaff could present any non-record based IAC claims. *Schaff*, ¶ 10.

Schaff shows that the procedural rules cannot be unreasonably applied to short circuit potential PCR claims. "Unlike civil complaints, the postconviction statutes are demanding in their pleading requirements." *Ellenburg v. Chase*, 2004 MT 66, ¶ 12, 320 Mont. 315, 87 P.3d 473. The due process statutory safeguards courts are supposed to engage in when pleading and evaluating postconviction petitions. When a post-conviction petition has been properly pled and a response ordered, the best way to resolve factual disputes is to conduct an evidentiary hearing. *Heath*, ¶¶21-24.

Other states similarly require a postconviction hearing when the defendant has identified specific expert testimony that could help exonerate the defendant. *Haskell v. State*, 336 So. 3d 406, 407 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2022). Given the limited opportunities for collateral proceedings, Main should have received a hearing to fully explore the differences between his supported PCR allegations and those made by Kim Norquay. *See, State v. Lewis*, 2007 MT 16, ¶ 21, 335 Mont. 331, 151 P.3d 883 (trial counsel's decision not to raise speedy trial claim should be fully considered by district court in post-conviction proceedings.) *See also, Williams v. State*, 2002 MT 189, ¶ 27, 311 Mont. 108, 53 P.3d 864

(Petitioner entitled to have the additional issues he raised in his amended petition independently considered by the district court.)

Main also did not need to prove his innocence based solely on the pleadings without an evidentiary hearing. “The law is clear that, in order to be entitled to an evidentiary hearing, a petitioner need only allege — not prove — reasonably specific, nonconclusory facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief.” *Aron v. United States*, 291 F.3d 708, 715 n. 6 (11th Cir. 2002). This approach makes sense because if the defendant was required to prove the facts that would entitle him to relief before being granted an evidentiary hearing, the hearing itself would be unnecessary. The district court had already determined Main’s claims were not frivolous. Otherwise, it would not have ordered the State to respond to his PCR petition. If the court was following the statutory procedure, it then independently reviewed Main’s PCR petition and the State’s response and concluded there was enough merit in Main’s claims to appoint counsel. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-201(1)(a). Having met these procedural hurdles, the district court should have held an evidentiary hearing as well.

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