IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0305

JAMES JOSEPH MAIN, JR.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Twelfth Judicial District Court,
Hill County, The Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
MARDELL PLOYHAR
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
mployhar@mt.gov

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellant Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
AND APPELLANT

LACEY LINCOLN
Hill County Attorney

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Postconviction petitioners are not entitled to discovery unless they can demonstrate good cause. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it

failed to order the Crime Lab to provide Main with raw DNA data for a sample from the ligature because Main did not establish that the data could provide evidence of his innocence. Significantly, Main had already been excluded as a contributor to the sample, and identifying the source of the DNA would not establish that Main did not participate in the aggravated assault that resulted in Kvelstad's death. Because the results were not probative of Main's guilt, the court did not abuse its discretion when it failed to order the Crime Lab to release the DNA data.

Similarly, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied the Amended Petition without holding a hearing. The only basis Main relied on for review of his untimely claim was Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), which requires a petitioner to present "newly discovered evidence that, if proven and viewed in light of the evidence as a whole would establish that the petitioner did not engage in the criminal conduct for which the petitioner was convicted." On appeal, Main continues to assert that Kvelstad's body moved and argues he was entitled to a hearing to explore Giesbrecht's theory that Kvelstad was hypothermic. But, there is no evidence that Kvelstad's body moved or that he was alive when EMTs arrived. To the contrary, the evidence demonstrates that he was dead and could not have been alive with the ligature embedded in his neck.

The postconviction statutes require a petitioner to support his claims with affidavits, records, and other evidence supporting the grounds for relief. Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-104(1)(c). Speculation and unsupported claims do not provide a basis for a hearing. Giesbrecht's speculation and Main's unsupported insistence that the body moved were not sufficient to require a hearing because the evidence conclusively demonstrated that Kvelstad was dead. Because Main failed to provide any credible evidence to contradict the evidence conclusively demonstrating that Kvelstad was dead, he was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

Main's argument faulting the district court for failing to apply *Schlup* should be rejected because Main did not raise a claim of actual innocence under *Schlup* in the district court. Because he did not preserve this claim, it should not be considered on appeal. Even if the claim is considered, it should be rejected because Main has not presented reliable evidence demonstrating that no reasonable juror would have found him guilty with the purportedly new evidence, which is required to prevail under *Schlup*.

And, *Schlup* merely provides a gateway to obtain review of a procedurally barred constitutional claim. Main asserted a *Brady* claim, but he failed to demonstrate that the State suppressed exculpatory evidence or establish a reasonable probability that, if suppressed evidence had been disclosed, the

outcome of the case would have been different. The State conceded that it may not have turned over nine photographs of the crime scene, but those photographs did not reveal any information that was not portrayed in the other photographs that were provided. Therefore, Main failed to establish that his right to exculpatory evidence was violated.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of review

This Court reviews a district court's denial of a petition for postconviction relief to determine whether the district court's findings of fact are clearly erroneous and whether its conclusions of law are correct. *Marble v. State*, 2015 MT 242, ¶ 13, 380 Mont. 366, 355 P.3d 742. This Court reviews discretionary rulings in postconviction proceedings, including whether to hold a hearing, for an abuse of discretion. *Marble*, ¶ 13.

The petitioner has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that he or she is entitled to relief. *Herman v. State*, 2006 MT 7, ¶ 44, 330 Mont. 267, 127 P.3d 422. A petitioner seeking to reverse a district court's denial of a postconviction relief petition "bears a heavy burden." *Garrett v. State*, 2005 MT 197, ¶ 10, 328 Mont. 165, 119 P.3d 55 (quoting *State v. Cobell*, 2004 MT 46, ¶ 14, 320 Mont. 122, 86 P.3d 20).

II. The court did not abuse its discretion when it failed to grant Main’s request for raw DNA data on a sample from which Main had been excluded.

A postconviction court has the discretion to determine whether discovery should be conducted. *Marble*, ¶ 37. The postconviction statutes authorize a court to order discovery where a party has demonstrated “good cause.” Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-201(4). This Court has explained that a petition for postconviction relief should not serve as a broad discovery device. *Heath v. State*, 2009 MT 7, ¶ 27, 348 Mont. 361, 202 P.3d 118. “The petitioner may not conduct a ‘fishing expedition’ in an attempt to establish the right to an evidentiary hearing.” *Id.*

The court did not abuse its discretion by not granting Main’s request for raw DNA data because the data he sought could not have established that he did not commit deliberate homicide under the theory that he was accountable for an aggravated assault that resulted in a death, which Main would have to prove to obtain any relief on a petition. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2).

The DNA report prepared by the Crime Lab before trial demonstrated that Main and Norquay were excluded from the DNA sample contained on one end of the hoodie string that was used to strangle Kvelstad. (Appellee’s App. B, Ex. 2 at 1.) The sample contained a mixture of DNA from at least three individuals, and Skidmore could not be excluded as a contributor. (*Id.*) Main sought the raw DNA data to reanalyze the DNA sample to determine whether the presence of

Skidmore's DNA could be confirmed and whether other contributors could be identified. (Appellee's App. B.)

Main's request is exactly the type of fishing expedition that is not allowed. The identification of the individuals who contributed to the DNA sample on the ligature would not undermine Main's conviction because: (1) Main was already excluded as a contributor before trial; (2) the conviction did not require the State to prove that Main was involved with placing the ligature on Kvelstad's neck, *Main I*, ¶ 43; (3) the presence of Skidmore's DNA on the ligature would not be inconsistent with the State's assertion that Main participated in an aggravated assault that resulted in Kvelstad's death; and (4) the DNA could have been placed on the ligature previously, by individuals who had no involvement in the homicide.

The only person who specifically linked Main to the ligature was Norquay, who told an officer that Main used Norquay's hoodie string to strangle Kvelstad. *Main I*, ¶ 35. But this Court explained that a lack of evidence linking Main to the ligature did not undermine his conviction because, under the felony murder rule, no proof that Main committed the physical act that resulted in the death was required. *Main I*, ¶ 43. Considerable evidence linked Main to an aggravated assault that resulted in Kvelstad's death, including testimony that Main choked Kvelstad out twice during the evening, Main "came up with the idea of trying to kill [Kvelstad]," Main told Kvelstad he could kill him, Main later told a woman in

the house that Kvelstad was dead and asked her to tell law enforcement that they had been “in the back room making love” when Kvelstad had died, and Main admitted he had fought with Kvelstad, in addition to DNA evidence demonstrating that Main had a significant amount of Kvelstad’s blood on his clothing. *Main I*, ¶¶ 29, 31-35, 39.

Given the lack of probative value of the DNA sample on the ligature and the strength of the evidence against Main, the court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to issue a subpoena duces tecum requiring the Crime Lab to release additional DNA data.

III. The district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Main’s Amended Petition without holding an evidentiary hearing.

A. Postconviction procedure

The postconviction statutes are demanding in their pleading requirements. *Ellenburg v. Chase*, 2004 MT 66, ¶ 12, 320 Mont. 315, 87 P.3d 473. A petition for postconviction relief must “identify all facts supporting the grounds for relief set forth in the petition and have attached affidavits, records, or other evidence establishing the existence of those facts.” Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-104(1)(c). The petition must also “be accompanied by a supporting memorandum, including appropriate arguments and citations and discussion of authorities.” Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-104(2); *Ellenburg*, ¶ 12. In addition, a postconviction petitioner has

the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence that he or she is entitled to relief. *Ellenburg*, ¶ 12. Mere conclusory allegations and self-serving statements are insufficient. *Kelly v. State*, 2013 MT 21, ¶¶ 9-11, 368 Mont. 309, 300 P.3d 120.

A district court may “dismiss a PCR petition without ordering a response if the petition and records ‘conclusively show that the petitioner is not entitled to relief’ as stated in § 46-21-201(1)(a), MCA,” or may “dismiss a petition without holding a hearing if the petition failed to satisfy the procedural threshold set forth in § 46-21-104(1)(c), MCA.” *Marble*, ¶ 38 (citing *Hamilton v. State*, 2010 MT 25, ¶¶ 10-11, 355 Mont. 133, 226 P.3d 588).

“[P]ostconviction proceedings are not a fishing expedition or discovery device in which a petitioner, through broad allegations in a verified petition, may establish the right to an evidentiary hearing.” *Robinson v. State*, 2010 MT 108, ¶ 18, 356 Mont. 282, 232 P.3d 403. In *Heath*, this Court held that the district court erred in denying Heath an evidentiary hearing where Heath’s defense counsel’s death created “unique circumstances” making it difficult to determine defense counsel’s reasons for his actions. *Id.* Yet in other cases, this Court has affirmed a district court’s order denying a petition for postconviction relief without holding an evidentiary hearing where the petitioner either failed to state a claim upon which

relief could be granted or failed to provide the required evidentiary support for the claims. *Hamilton*, ¶¶ 10-32; *Herman*, ¶¶ 24-52.

As explained below, Main failed to provide evidentiary support for his claims and without that, he was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

B. Main has abandoned the basis for relief he relied on in the district court and, therefore, has no preserved claim for relief.

Main filed his Second Petition in April 2019, six years after this Court affirmed the denial of his first petition for postconviction relief. (Doc. 1); *Main II*. Because his Second Petition, which initiated this case, was not filed within one year of the date his conviction became final, his petition was untimely under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(1).

In Main's Amended Petition, he failed to provide any basis for the court to review his untimely petition. (*See* Appellee's App. D at 16-32.) After the State pointed out that Main failed to provide any authority to review his untimely claims, he argued in his reply that his petition should be reviewed under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2). (Appellee's App. G.) In denying Main's Amended Petition, the district court found that the evidence Main relied on to argue the body moved was not "new evidence." (Appellant's App. A at 14.)

On appeal, Main acknowledges that it "may be true" that his purported evidence challenging the manner of Kvelstad's death was not newly discovered

evidence under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2), but he argues the court should have applied *Schlup v. Delo*, 513 U.S. 298 (1995), instead. (Appellant’s Br. at 20-25.) This is incorrect because Main did not raise a claim of actual innocence under *Schlup* in the district court. (See Docs. 48, 61.)

This Court has explained that “[a] party may not raise new arguments or change its legal theory on appeal. The reason for the rule is that it is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider.” *State v. Martinez*, 2003 MT 65, ¶ 17, 314 Mont. 434, 67 P.3d 307 (citations omitted). Here, Main improperly faults the district court for not addressing a claim that he never raised.

Because Main has now abandoned the only basis he provided in the district court for review of his untimely petition, and is instead relying on an unpreserved claim, this Court should affirm the district court’s denial of his Amended Petition without further review of the merits.

C. Main is not entitled to relief under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2).

If this Court reviews whether the district court correctly denied the Amended Petition under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) without conducting a hearing, this Court should affirm because the district court’s findings and the evidence in the record demonstrate that Main has not met and cannot meet his burden to present

newly discovered evidence that, if proved, would establish that he did not commit deliberate homicide under the felony murder rule.⁴

Montana Code Annotated § 46-21-102(2) provides that

[a] claim that alleges the existence of newly discovered evidence that, if proven and viewed in light of the evidence as a whole would establish that the petitioner did not engage in the criminal conduct for which the petitioner was convicted, may be raised in a petition filed within 1 year of the date on which the conviction becomes final or the date on which the petitioner discovers, or reasonably should have discovered, the existence of the evidence, whichever is later.

Montana Code Annotated § 46-21-102(2) provides an avenue for a petitioner to present a stand-alone claim of actual innocence. *See Marble*, ¶ 33. Main failed to provide actual evidence, rather than speculative and unsupported assertions, to support his claim. As a result, he was not entitled to an evidentiary hearing.

1. The evidence Main relies on is not newly discovered.

The only purported evidence Main relies on in his appeal is the opinion of Giesbrecht regarding hypothermia and the evidence that he may have obtained if he had been able to conduct further analysis on the DNA from the ligature.

⁴ After deciding that Main filed his petition within one year of obtaining new information, the district court's order appears to incorrectly address the merits of Main's *Brady* claim, rather than addressing whether the evidence qualified as newly discovered and whether it could establish that Main did not commit the offense. However, the court later correctly found that Giesbrecht's opinion was not new evidence. For the reason explained in this brief, the district court correctly denied the Amended Petition, even if the analysis was flawed.

(See Appellant’s Br. at 24.)⁵ But Main does not even contest the district court’s finding that Giesbrecht’s opinion was “not new evidence.” (See Appellant’s App. A at 14.) Rather, Main acknowledges that it “may be true” that the evidence did not qualify as newly discovered. (Appellant’s Br. at 20.)

New expert analysis based on information that existed at the time of trial is not “newly discovered evidence” that can be relied on to demonstrate innocence under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2). *Garding v. State*, 2020 MT 163, ¶¶ 40-42, 400 Mont. 296, 466 P.3d 501; *Garding*, ¶ 42 (noting that considering such evidence “would significantly undermine the finality of convictions”). Because Main did not provide newly discovered evidence, he could not meet his burden under Mont. Code Ann. § 46-21-102(2) and was not entitled to a hearing.

2. The evidence Main relies on does not establish that he did not commit deliberate homicide.

Further, a hearing on Giesbrecht’s hypothermia theory was unnecessary because the evidence elicited at Norquay’s hearing conclusively demonstrated Kvelstad was dead when EMTs declared he was dead, and there is no evidence that

⁵ Main appears to have abandoned the conspiracy theories made below alleging that the HPD purposely failed to turn over photographs and restaged the crime scene to create inaccurate photographs. That is reasonable given the lack of evidence to support the outlandish allegations made below. Judge Laird correctly found that no testimony “support[ed] the argument any of the officers involved altered the crime scene, crime scene photographs or crime scene video.” (Appellee’s App. H at 15.)

he subsequently crawled two feet. Main repeatedly insists that Kvelstad's body moved. But as this Court aptly stated in *State v. Crabtree*, 2022 MT 133, ¶ 21, 409 Mont. 211, 512 P.3d 1187, "insistence is not evidence."

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